
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
1325 K STR[ET N.W
WASHING 1ON,D.C. 20463

3 0 AUG 1976
Mr. Lawrence J. Hogan, Esq.
Hogan and Hogan
Riddell Building, suite 308
1730 K Street, N.W.
Washingt~on, D.C. 20006

Re: MUR 084 (76)

Dear Mr. Hogan:

On August 26, 1976, the Commission voted toterminate its inquiry into alleged violations of theFederal Elecetion Campign Act of 1971, as a=me-nded, (the Act)- in MUR 084. The Commission detri:d tha ther wasnreason to believe that a vio'atc- 'fthe I-- has occurred.Accordingly, the Commission intends to close its file inthis matter*.

Copies of the certification of the Commission'sAction and General Counsel's Report are encl'I.osed for yourformation. If you have any questions, please contactGloria R. Sutlon (telephone no. 202/382-4041), the attorneyassigned to this matter.

Sincerely yours,

John G. Murphy,, Jr.
General Counsel

Enclosure

cc: Honorable L. F. Sikes
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSIONII 1325 K STREET N.W
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463 30AG17

Mr. H.A. Brosnaham, Jr.
Chairman, Bob Sikes Appreciation Day
Route 3, Box 700
Pensacola, Flordia 32503

Re:_ MUR 084 C76)

Dear Mr. Brosnaham:

On August 26, 1976, the Commuission voted to terminate
V% its inquiry into alleged violations of the Federal Election

Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the Act) in~ the above case.
- The Commission determined that thert, was no reason to believe
__ that a violation of the Act had oc,- e~ A2cCordingly, the

Commission intends to close its 7ii h snatter.

Copies of the certification of the Ccm=ission's action
C and General Counsel's Report are enclosed for your information.

If you have any questions, please contact Gloria R. Sulton
C(telephone no. 202/382-4041), the attorney assigned to this

matter.

C SinCerely yours,

UJohn G. Murphy, Jr.

General Counsel

Enclosure

&.5A.Anx. # A M-i - al-4 .. I-
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
1325 K STREET N.W
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

130 A US 1976

Mr. John J. Benton, Jr.
809 Foster Avenue
Panama City, Florida 32401

Re: MUR 084 (76)

Dear Mr. Benton:

On August 26, 1976, the Commission voted to terminate
its inquiry into the allegations of your complaint in the
above case. The Commission determined that there was no
reason to believe that a violation of the Federal Election
Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, had occurred. Accordingly,
the Commission intends to close its file i4n t-his matter.

Copies of the certification of the Commission's Action-
and General Counsel's Report are enclosed for you informa-
tion. If you have any questions, please contCact Gloria R.
Sulton (telep)hone no. 202/382-4041), the attonyasge
to this matter.

Sincerely yours,

('John G. MurphySr
1/General Counsel

Enclosures

Ih<. . 0
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of)
) MLR 084 (76)

Robert L. F. Sikes)
Friends of Bob Sikes )

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmnons, Secretary to the Federal Election

Commission, do hereby certify that on August 26, 1976, the

Commuission determined by a vote of 5-0 that there was no reason

to believe that a violation of the Federal Election Campaign

Act of 1971, as amended, had been commuitted in the above-

e7 captioned matter. Voting that there was no reason to believe

were Commissioners Aikens, Harris, Staebler, Thomson and Tiernan.

Conmmissioner Springer was absent.

Accordingly, the file in this matter has now been closed.

Ma6rjorie/W. Emmnons
Secret~jy to the Comumission
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BEFORE THtE FEDERAL EEfO QDZSO

MR -084 .(76)

Robert L.F. Sikes/
Friends of Bob Sikes

GENERAL COUNSEL' S REPORT

I. Allegations

John J. Benton filed a complaint on February 12v

1976, alleging that:

1. A group called Friends of Bob Sikes

sponsored an Appreciation Day event but failed to report

contributions and expenditures on behalf of Representative

Sikes or register as a political committee.

2. Contribution limits may have been exceeded.

3. Congressman Sikes has failed to report any

receipts from the event.

II. Evidence

The complainant submitted a notarized letter and

some newspaper accounts of the Appreciation Day event held

on October 25, 1975 in Pensacola, Florida. The information

provided indicates that a number of Sikes' constituents

organized and planned the event to show their appreciation

of his 35 years of service to his district. The event

was provoked by the attacks of Common Cause against

(71
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congressman Sikes charging conflict of Interdst*

The event included a parade proceeding through several

towns in his district# free chicken dinners to an es timted

10,000 persons with an estimated value of $2.00 each, and

free entertainment.

A review of the public records do not reflect reports

having been filed by the Friends of Bob Sikes, nor any

registration by such a group.

There is no information to identify who provided or

paid for the expenses associated with the event. A few persons

are identified as organizers of the event including a chairman,

publicity chairman and parade chairman.

The reports filed by Congressman Sikes and his principal

campaign committee, Bob Sikes Political Campaign Committee,

do not disclose any receipts during the last six months of 1975.

Two expenditures were made in December 1975 by the committee

which appear unrelated to the Appreciation Day Event.

The initial response dated June 24, 1976, submitted by

Congressman Sikes, through counsel, consists of a letter stating

that the organization which sponsored the Appreciation Day event

was not a political committee, and had no political or other

connection with Mr. Sikes. Counsel also states that the affair

was not organized to make contributions or expenditures to

influence Congressman Sikes' re-election, and that no funds were

received from this event. He also indi~cates that Congressman
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Sikes was not a candidate for Federal office in 1975.

On August 12, 1976, the Commission sent letters to

Congressman Sikes' counsel and the named Chairman of the

event, H. A. Broshaham, Jr., requesting statements under

oath in response to the complaint. Notarized responses from

Congressman Sikes and Mr. Brosnaham were received on

August 23, 1976. (See attached.) These statements

essentially confirm counsel's earlier letter of June 24,

1976.

III. Analysis

Based upon the notarized statements received, there

is no reason to believe that the Appreciation Day event was

sponsored to influence the nomination or election of Congress-

N man Sikes; that Congressman Sikes or his authorized committees

N or agents promoted the event except by his appearance at

it; or that any contributions were made to or received by

Congressman Sikes, his agents or authorized committees from

the event. Therefore, there is no basis for imposing a

registration or disclosure obligation on the Friends of Bob

Sikes or Congressman Sikes as a result of this event.

IV. Recommendation

Close file. Send attached letters.

DATE: W'&4



AOMIflEO TO PRACTIC9

LAWRENCE J1. HOGAN 4O.Ci

ILONA MOODLY HOGAN (MD. ANC 0. CJ

OF COUNSEL

DEPT 8. RAND

MANS A. NATHAN

WkiT 001) 4100m.L RI0.

1730 K. SifTOET N. W.

WASHIGTONS. C.3O0O

BY HAND

Honorable John G. Murphy, Jr.
General Counsel
The Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N. W.
Washington, D. C. 20463

Re: MUR 084 (76)

Dear Mr. Murphy:

Pursuant to your letter of August 12, 1 am enclosing
statement from Congressman Sikes and H. A. Brosnaham, Jr., one
organizers of the "Friends of Bob Sikes" group.

a sworn
of the

This would seem a rather simple matter to decide and I do
hope the Commission will be able to reach a decision within a few days.

I am sure you are aware that the longer this matter continues
in abeyance, the longer Congressman Sikes' primary opponent is able to
say that Congressman Sikes is the target of a campaign violation probe.
It was Congressman Sikes' primary opponent who filed the complaint and
who promoted and continues to promote inaccurate press accounts of the
activity of the Commission.

Sincerely yours,

J4uav 4. %40*
Lawrence J. Hogan

cc Hon. Vernon W. Thomson
LJH/j

HO'GAN H&0 KoG l ,., W i
ATTORNEYS AT LAW'

M6AUG2
August 23, 1976



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, as:

ROBERT L. F. SIKES, being duly sworn, hereby deposes and states:

1. My name is ROBERT L. F. SIKES. I live at Crestview, Florida.

2. I am a Member of Congress, representing the First Congressional

District of Florida. With the exception of military service during World

War II, I have served as a Member of Congress since January 1941.

3. In October of 1975 a group of local men calling themselves the

"Friends of Bob Sikes" organized and sponsored a testimonial dinner for me.

4. I had no advance knowledge that such a dinner was being planned

or that such a group was being formed other than when one of the group called

me about mid-September of 1975 and asked me what date would be convenient

for me to attend a dinner. At that time it was explained to me that the

dinner was being held to honor me for my long-time service to the District.

5. To the best of my knowledge, none of my political committees,

N either active or inactive, or my staff in Washington or Florida, had any

advance knowledge that such a dinner was being planned or that such a group

was being formed.

6. Neither I, nor, to my knowledge, any of my committees or staff

in Washington or Florida were involved in any way with the group (other than

so stated in number 4 herein) which called itself the "Friends of Bob Sikes".

or with any of their activities.

7. Neither 1, nor, to my knowledge, any of my committees or staff

in Washington or Florida ever received or trasferred funds or anything else

of value to the group known as the "Friends of Bob Sikes" or to any individual

connected with that group.

8. The "Friends of Bob Sikes" and those who organized it and

solicited and expended funds on its behalf were not associated with me or



9. The month or months in which the "Friends of Bob Sikes"l group

was organized and the month in which the testimonial dinner was held were

not in an election year. I was not a candidate for election to federal office

or any other office; in fact, at the time the dinner was held, I was truly

undecided whether to seek reelection. If I had any inclination, it was

against seeking reelection.

10. At the testimonial dinner itself I did not seek nor did I obtain

contributions in any form for any purpose from those attending.

11. To the best of my knowledge, the testimonial dinner was a social

and community function and nothing more. I made a speech to those attending,

as is customary at such functions. I did so only on popular request and not

for any political purpose, but out of courtesy and respect to the people

-~ present.

12. It is my understanding that the "Friends of Bob Sikes" group

collected a small amount of money in excess of what was required to pay for

the dinner, and that this money was donated to the American Cancer Society

in October or November, 1975. 1 understand that this was the last act of

N the "Friends of Bob Sikes" group, and that they disbanded in late,-"Z75.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NOT.

Rlbrt I. F/Sikes, M.C.

SWORN and subscribed to before me this day of August, 1976.

A' Notary Public

%hry Pt'blic, Disf. of CoafMY CmmssonE~pres AM A MIN



AFFIDAVIT

1. My name is H. A. Brosnaham, Jr. I live at Route 3,

Box 700, Pensacola# Florida 32503. 1 am a retired Postal Service
employee.

2. In the fall of 1975, a civic committee of local business-
men and others calling ourselves the "Friends of Bob Sikes" under-

took at our own initiative and personal expense to plan a testimonial

dinner for Bob Sikes who had faithfully served our area for over

thirty years.

3. The "Friends of Bob Sikes" was not an ongoing or formal
elm% group; we had noafficers or charter but were a loosely knit group

of individual men, women and local businesses who got together at

various times to plan and stage one dinner. In every sense, this
was a one-shot activity organization that did not exist before the
fall of 1975 and disbanded immediately after the testimonial dinner.

4. The testimonial dinner was paid for exclusively by our
group with our own funds. These funds were used only to purchase

a minimal amount of food needed for the dinner and its execution.
We never intended to seek nor did we ever seek any reimbursement
from anyone for our personal expenditures we made to help pay for
the dinner.

5. No one in our group solicited, collected, transferred or

N distributed funds or anything else of value to, for or on behalf

of Bob Sikes or any of his official or unofficial committees, re-

presentatives, agents or employees in Florida or anywhere else.

6. To the best of my knowledge neither Bob Sikes nor any of

his staff knew that our group was being formed. At no time after

our formation did Bob Sikes or any of his staff participate in any

way with our group in planning or executing the dinner. Also to the

best of my knowledge there was not in existence any political comn-

mittee or election committee interested in the reelection of Mr.
Sikes.

7. The "Friends of Bob Sikes" group and the testimonial

dinner that was held were not planned nor were they conducted to
in any way influence a political election.



8. There was about $400.00 left over from the expense of
the dinner. This was contributed to the Cancer Society.

sworn and subscribed to before me on this the 16''Uday of
August, 1976.

Ntary Public
NOTARY PUBLIC STATE OF FLORIDA AT LAkra

My COMMISSION EXPIRES JUNE 24, 1979

-2-



HOGAN & HOGAN
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

SUfITE 3-)?, JOHN HANSON BLDG.

76!0 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE

FORESTVILLE, MARYLAND 20028

Honorable John G. Murphy, Jr.
General Counsel

7 The Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N. W.
Washington, D. C. 20463

BY HAND
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
1325 K SIREEI'N.W
WASHINGTOND.C. 20463 1 2 AUG 1976

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Lawrence J; Hogan, Esq.
Hogan and Hogan
Riddell Building, Suite 308
1730 K Street, N.: W.
Washington, D. C. 20006

Re: MUR 084 (76)

Dear Mr. Hogan:

This will acknowledge receipt of youir letter of June 24,

1976, regarding the above matter. Before presenting a further

- report to the Commission for consideration, I would appreciate

your submitting a sworn statement from Congressman Sikes or

other persons having personal knowledge of the allegations in
the complaint.

Please submit your statements within seven days after

receipt of this letter. The Commission does not intend to

take further action until the conclusion of the seven day
response period.

Sincerely yours,

John G. Murphy, Jr.
General Counsel

cc: Honorable Robert L. F. Sikes
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION6~* 1325 K STREET N.W
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

CERTIFIED'MAIL 12 AUG 197
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Mr. H. A. Brosnaham, Jr.
Chairman, Bob Sikes Appreciation Day
Route 3, Box 700

C, Pensacola, Florida 32503

N Re: MUR 084 (76)

Dear Mr. Brosnaham:

This letter is to advise you that the Federal Election
("71 Commission has received a complaint alleging certain vio-

lations of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended (the Act) by the Friends of Bob Sikes in connection
with the Bob Sikes Appreciation Day event on October 25,
1975. This information indicates that you were the chair-
man of this event and an organizer of the Friends of Bob
Sikes. A copy of the complaint is enclosed. The Commission
has made no determination that the matters alleged set
forth a violation of the Act.

The Commission is presently conducting a preliminary
inquiry to determine what action, if any, it should take.
In this regard, I invite you to submit any factual or legal
material which you believe is relevant to the Commission's
analysis of this matter. Specifically, the Commission
wishes to determine if your organization made contributions
or expenditures to influence the nomination or election of
Congressman Sikes, and if so, to determine what registration
or reporting obligations, if any, you may have under the
Act. See 2 U.S.C. Sections 431(e),(f),(d); 433; 434. Where
appropriate, statements submitted should be under oath by
individuals who have personal knowledge of the events in
question.
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The Commission is under a duty to examine this matter
expeditiously, therefore, your response should be submitted
within ten days after receipt of this letter. You will be
sent copies or summaries of all correspondence received by
the Commission from the complainant. If you have any questions#
please contact Gloria R. Sulton (telephone no. 202/382-4041),
the attorney assigned to this case.

Sincerely yours,

Signedl: Jolin G. MuphyLu I.

John G. Murphy, Jr.
£ General Counsel

0

~4~

q~3m

0

Enclosures: Copy of Act
Proposed Regulations on Compliance Procedure
Copy of Complaint



FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
1325 K STREET N.W
WASHINCTON,D.C. 20463

MEMORANDUM TO: The Commissioners

THRU: Orlando B. Potter 0,t

FROM: John G. Murphy,Jre

Re: Letters, HUE 084 (76)

Please find attached separate letters to Lawrence J.

Hogan, Congressman Sikes' Counsel and to a group which

organized a Sikes Appreciation Day. The letters request

further information with regard to an ongoing inquiry in

MUR 084 (76). We expect to submit a General Counsel's

Report on this matter shortly.

Unless an objection is noted the letters will be

sent at the close of business Tuesday, August 10, 1976.

ATTACHMENTS

40
L UTIO4
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

~1325 K STREET N.W

WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Mr. H. A. Brosnahaml, Jr.
Chairman, Bob Sikes Appreciation Day
Route 3, Box 700
Pensacola, Florida 32503

Re: MUR 084 (76)

Dear Mr. Brosnaham:

This letter is to advise you that the Federal Election
Commission has received a complaint alleging certain vio-
lations of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended (the Act) by the Friends of Bob Sikes in connection
with the Bob Sikes Appreciation Day event on October 25,

1975. This information indicates that you were the chair-
man of this event and an organizer of the Friends of Bob
Sikes. A copy of the complaint is enclosed. The Commission
has made no determination that the matters alleged set
forth a violation of the Act.

N The Commission is presently conducting a preliminary

N inquiry to determine what action, if any, it should take.
In this regard, I invite you to submit any factual or legal
material which you believe is relevant to the Commission's
analysis of this matter. Specifically, the Commission
wishes to determine if your organization made contributions
or expenditures to influence the nomination or election of

Congressman Sikes, and if so, to determine what registration
or reporting obligations, if any, you may have under the
Act. See 2 U.S.C. Sections 431(e),(f),(d; 433; 434. Where
appropriate, statements submitted should be under oath by
individuals who have personal knowledge of the events in
question.
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The Commission is under a duty to examine this matter
expeditiously, therefore, your response should be submitted
within ten days after receipt of this letter. You will be
sent copies or summaries of all correspondence received by
the Commission from the complainant. If you have any questions,
please contact Gloria R. Sulton (telephone no. 202/382-4041),
the attorney assigned to this case.

Sincerely yours,

John G. Murphy, Jr.
General Counsel

Enclosures: Copy of Act
Proposed Regulations on Compliance Procedure
Copy of Complaint



FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
1325 K STREET N.W
WASHINCTOND.C. 20463

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Lawrence J. Hogan, Esqe
Hogan and Hogan
Riddell Building, Suite 309
1730 K Street, N. W.
Washington, D. C. 20006

Re: MUR 084 (76)

Dear Mr. Hogan:

This will acknowledge receipt of your letter of June 24,
1976, regarding the above mattar. Before presenting a further

N report to the Commission for consideration, I would appreciate
your submitting a sworn statement from Congressman Sikes or
other persons having personal knowledge of the allegations in
the complaint.

Please submit your statements within seven days after
receipt of this letter. The Commission does not intend to
take further action until the conclusion of the seven days
response period.

Sincerely yours,

John G. Murphy, Jr.
General Counsel

cc: Honorable Robert L. F. Sikes
406UT10A,
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ADMITTED TO PRACTICE

LAWRENCE .J. HOGAN t0.C)

ILONA MODLY MOGAN IUD.ANOD. MV

oIP COUNSEL

BERPlT B8. RAND

HANS A. NATHAN June 24, 1976

SUITIC 360. PIDDELI. OLD*G.
1730 K STREIET. ". W.

WASHINGQTON. 0. C. 20006
TCL. (*08) 765-1441

TELEX 0940&

John G. Murphy, Jr.
General Counsel
Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N. W.
Washington, D. C. 20463

Cr:

Dear John:

My client, Congressman Robert L. F. Sikes, has asked me to
respond to your letter of June 4, 1976.

While we appreciate your affording us an opportunity to comment,
I fail to see how any of the cited sections of Title 2 USC could possibly
have been violated.

A perusal of these sections as well as your advisory opinions
and rules confirms that conclusion.

The organization referred to was not a political committee. A
group of civic leaders, who were disturbed over the unwarranted public
criticism of Congressman Sikes, decided to hold a tribute to him in
appreciation for his years of outstanding service to the district. The
group organizing the event had no political or other connection with Mr.
Sikes, and it was not organized to raise money or make contributions
or expenditures to influence the nomination or election of a federal
official. It was purely a civic committee organized to honor Mr. Sikes
for his past services.

Congressman Sikes was not a candidate for federal office in the
calendar year in which the event took place. He had not filed for candidacy
under Florida law and had not announced his intention to do so. In fact,
to date he has not done so.

HOGAN &HOGAN
$VjTC 8@7, JOHN HANSON SLOG.

ATTONEY~IAIM? 5  All: fg 1 "f P4YLVANIA A"I NUE,

TEL. (301) 420-460

Litt



John G. Murphy, Jr.
June 24, 1976
Page Two

Neither Mr. Sikes nor any political committee authorized by him
received any funds or anything else of value from the committee sponsor-
ing the tribute.

The charges by Mr. Benton have no validity whatsoever and do
not warrant further comment.

Sincerely,

Lawrence J. OganU



HOGAN & HOGAN
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

SUITE 307, JOHN HANSON BLDG.

7610 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE

ofFORESTVILLE, MARYLAND 20028

p.- (7' WIN

John G. Murphy, Jr.
General Counsel
Federal Election Committee
1325 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D. C. 20463
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June 14, 1976

Mr. William Oldaker
Assistant General Counsel for Complaints
Federal Election Commission . f

1325 K Street, N.W. .rIDDE1
Washington, D.C. 20463

Dear Mr. Oldaker:

Pursuant to Miss Butler's telephone conversation with you
today, I wish to acknowledge receipt of the letter from
the Federal Election Commission under date of June 4 and
to request an extension of time in which-o reply. I wil
appreciate the cooperation of the Comm issi n in granting
this extension.

Yours trial

/2Bob Sikes

S/bs
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- Mr. William Oldaker
Assistant "'enera1 Counsel for Complaints
Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20463
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DATE AND TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: MAY 2 6 1976

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, D. C.

Complainant's Name: John J. Benton, Jr.

Respondent's Same: -Rp Rbr L- E Sikes. 1ppnsorstofnay~

Relevant Statute: 7 ri-C 99~ f434 (b) (a) ra 441a 14 ij at 4 ns oa cmtrib-ti'o.

Internal Reports Checked: .1975 aAl 1Q7fiIVE t nf WRie

Federal Agencies Checked: NaoT

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATION

Complainant alleges that unreported contributions and expenditures

nay helA ini Ppnganlap rla- ani OQ-hew 79, 1975

PRELIMINARY LEGAL ANALYSIS

Con1inant has quhmittedA nesp ae aticles describing the event

which- raiaa an issue as. to whesther the sponsors made independent exenditures

reportable under 434 (e) - Crucial to this determination is whether Sikes

was a candidate at-the time and wdhether the sponsors advocated the election or

defat of Sikes.- A further question arises as to whether Sikes requested or

authorized the exp-endituAres on his behalf or through-agents and, if so,

mahether the costs of the affair should be reported by Sikes as an in-kind1 contribuition.

RECOMMENDATION

Inquire further. Send attached letters.

Date of a.'ext Commission Review:

NO.

REC'D:

084

2-12-76



FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

1325 K STREET N.W

j WASHINCTOND.C. 20463

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Honorable Robert L. F. Sikes
2269 Rayburn Building
Washington, D.C. 20515

Dea Mr Sies:Re: MUR 084 (76)

This letter is to inform you that the Federal Election
Commission has received a complaint which mentions your name
in connection with possible violations of 2 U.S.C. SS433,
434(e), 441a by a group calling itself the "Friends of Bob
Sikes Comittee." The complaint has been numbered blUR 084(76)
and a copy is enclosed. The Commission has made no determi-
nation that the matters alleged set forth a violation of the
Federal Election Campaign law of 1971, as amended (the Act).

The Commnission is presently conducting a preliminary
inquiry into this matter to determine if there is reason to
believe that a violation of the Act has occurred. Toward
this end, we invite you to submit any factual or legal
matters which you believe are relevant to the Commission's
analysis of this complaint. The Commission must consider

C74 such matters expeditiously; accordingly, please submit your
response within ten days after receipt of this letter. We

N would request that you address specifically the allegations
of possible violations of 2 U.S.C. SS434(b) and (e).

Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. S437g(a) (3), this matter shall
remain confidential unless you state to the Commisison in
writing that you wish the investigation to be made public.
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact
us. The attorney assigned to this case is Gloria R. Sulton
(telephone no. 382-4041).

Sincerely yours,

John G. Murphy, Jr.
General Counsel

E4,qtosure: Complaint



FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
1325 K STREET N.W
WASHINCTON.D.C. 20463

Mr. John J. Benton , Jr.
809 Foster Avenue
Panama City, FL 32401

Re: MUR 084 (761~

Dear Mr. Benton:

This letter acknowledges receipt of your complaint
C" dated February 12, 1976, alleging violations of the

Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended Ltkhe
Act) by Representative Robert L.P. Sikes and the sponsors
of the Sikes Appreciation Day. We have numbered your
complaint as MUR 084 (76); please refer to this number
in any future correspondence.

C71 The Commission has opened a preliminary inquiry into
your allegations to determine if there is reason to believe
a violation of the Act has occurred. A copy of your complaint
has been forwarded to Mr. Sikes and he has been given the
opportunity to submit any relevant materials within ten days.
If you have any other evidence regarding this matter, please
submit it within five days of receipt of this letter. Please

N note that 2 U.S.C. S437g(a) (3) states that any "notification
N or investigation [of alleged violations of the Act] . * . shall

not be made public by the Commission or by any person without
the written consent of the person .. with respect to whom
such investigation is made."

The attorney assigned to this case is Gloria R. Sulton
(Telephone No. 202/382-4041). Please feel free to contact
her if you have any questions.

Sincerely yours,

John G. Murphy, Jr.
General Counsel
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809 Foster Avenue 1 l:0
Panama City, Fl. 32401

Thomas B. Curtis, chairman
Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street NW
Washington, D.C. 20463

Dear Sir:

I believe there has been a violation of federal

election laws. Rep. Robert L. F. Sikes and/or certain

of his supporters have failed to make required reports

of contributions and expenditures. There definitely

has been a violation of section 434(e) requiring

disclosure of expenditures. There-may have been a

violation of section 433 whic h calls for the registration

of political committees, and section 608(b) which

limits contributions by persons and committees.

On October 25, 1975 there was a political rally

held in Pensacola, Florida. At that rally "110,000-plus"

people were served "1$2.00 value" chicken dinners as

reported in attached copies of Pensacola News-Journal*

articles. The sum expended is substantially above

the $100 disclosure requirement level. A thorough
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search of Federal Election Commission files produced

no report of contributions or expenditures by individuals

identified in the press reports as associated with

the rally (H. A. Brosnaham, Jr., chairman; M, J. Menge,

publicity chairman; James M. Sheffer, motorcade

chairman). The search produced no report from any

committee outlining the expenses of the rally or the

source of funds. The Bob Sikes Political Campaign

Committee's*January 31, 1976 report makes no mention

of expenditur -es associated with the rally.

Disclosure of expenditures of $100 or more are

required by law. Disclosure is required of candidates,

political committees, and also persons acting inde-

pendently. Section 434(e) says:

Every person...who makes contributions
or expenditures, other than by contribution
to a political committee or candidate, in an
aggregate amount in excess of $100 within a
calendar year shall file with the Commission...

N There is some question in my mind as to how

N independent the "Friends of Bob Sikes" committee

were of the candidate. In the October 24, 1975

Pensacola Journal M. J. Menge, publicity chairman for

the event is quoted as saying,, "A group of people from

not only Escambia County, but Santa Rosa and Okaloosa .

and Bay counties, spontaneously reacted to the

criticism he was getting." This "spontaneous"

combustion of support looks like arson to me. The



extent to which there was or was not colluisioi, witch

the candidate may indicate violations of other sections

of the: federal election campaign laws.

Another quote from M. J. Menge (Pensacola News,,

October 23, 197S) would have us believe - 0 "That

the primary purpose (of the rally) is (was) to express

to Bob Sikes the appreciation of the citizens of

Northwest Florida for what he has done for this area

as Congressman." This may have been one of the purposes.

It is also evident that this political rally was

generated in.response to charges of conflicts of

interests and abuse of power. The candidate is reported

(Pensacola News-Journal, October 26, 1975) to have

offerecdthis opinion at the rally, "The record shows

that the more people take pot shots at your congressman,

the more votes you give him in the election that

f ollows. 1

There may have been violations of several sections

of the federal election campaign laws. I urge the

Federal Election Commision (or its successor) to

investigate.

Correspodence will reach me if directed to the

above address or, through March 15, 1 may be reached

at:

MW
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5170 Fulton St. NW
Washington, D.C. 20016
home telephone .(202) 966-6579
office phone (202) 523-0801

.Please consider this a formal complaint pursuantwith 2 U.S.C. 437g(a).

Sincerely,
2

Benton, Jr

h~s~n Don '00Ca SS

Subscribed and sworn to bLefcr2 me this
12thdayof ebruary, 1976

.yPublic, Do.Co

;vaY Cornmiis~on ExplrcsNov.. 30, 1978
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)ikes Dayv Plavnners

,xpect Human W ave.
DyMIKEMMNERSONi

B* Sikces Apprecation Day activities. ex-
ted todraw about 10.000 Panhandle Florida
idents to the Pensacola Interstate Fair-
wids Saturday. begin with motorcades from

i~~waama City an Borifay oiflng
ce h sralaidtoday.
"e1Wgoing5 to converge in Pensacola

~wdteArea ofLe Square at approximately
fom Escambla County will join the motor-

saidU Mi Mnge, publicity chairman for

"The primary purpose is to express to Bob
Sike the appreciation of the Cit12ens of Morth.
w lorida fofithe ha done forthisas 

C;*wcsvvWMalenge said.
Shortly after the motorcade's arrival at the

fairgrounds about noon. "there will be free
chickedipntsseredtOCV2b~yvYwCOuues.
vhcihet they are in the motorcade or not, said
HA# Bromnaham Jr.. chairman of the event's
steeringCmilttee.

'Thee will be musk and entertainment -

cogyndIwgsternand gospel -pactcallyuAd,
Castinedan 2A

CELEBRATING

NORTHWEST FLORIDA'S #1 VETERAN

CL- 200 ValuChicken Dinner and
Contry and Gospol EfflortinWIU'

*§oc

£dROBlERT L.F. SS se et

WO HUNDRED AMERICAN YEARS

ROROUNDS

fi~P~aoo~a >iew
A Gannett Newspaper

Pw s. l wdI.bie.Tsklwdo Afgeg^ eA.dbe 3 19?5-2oels

ih vo. Plo 25

Aoil
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Si~kes Day Plantners
Gar for Big Tj1urnrnst

Contknue From 1A
day. starting around I Ito 11:30 am. and contin-
Wag through the afternoon," he said.

'Mere will be no speaking exccept by Bob
Slice, Brsonahiam said. "The dignitaries who
will attend will be recognized:

Droshlam said auto dealer Vince Whibbs
will emcee the event and Pensacola Mlayor Ba-
reny Burkes wvill present Sikes.

"We have ample f.acilities to provie shelter
in case the weather should not be good," Blros-
nahamsaid.

"We are preparing to serve 10,000 free
chicken dinners and we %ill have rolls and cakes
ad cold drinks, all of wvhich will be free." he said.
"Tere will be no charge for entertainment or
anything else and no solicitation of funds f or
anything."

Motorcade Chairnan James M1. Sheffer said
'Let's nuke this the bie-est day of appreciation
et'er seen in Northwest Florida. W'e need to send
a message to Commrton Cause that they can't des-
troy an uncommnon m=L"

Common Cause, the citizens lobby, had
demanded Sikes! resignation as chairman of the
House subcommittee on tMlitary appropriations
because of alleged conflicts of Interests in his
business dealings, but Sikes, denying the allega.
tions, has steadfastly refused to resimn

Motorcades will originate In Chipley, Bon-
ifay, DeFuniak Springs, Crestview. Milton, Pan-
amat City, Fort Walton Beadi, and the Vlalparai-
so.Ni cavil le area. Shefcr said a pri~e 'Will be
given for the best-decorated vehicle in the mo-
torcade and he urged decoration of cars with
buntingy and signs.

The miss motorcade, after joining forces
with Escamnbia County residents In the Lee
Square area, is to parade downm Palafox Street
and proceed to the fairgrounds.

Earlier i the day, at 10 a.m. Sikes is to ride
in the parade celebrating the Great Gulfcoast
Festival, a Friday through Sunday arts and crafts
festival that also includes entertainment by
performing artist.
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To onor Likres
By~ BILL GORlDON
Jool Stolt Writer

Supporters of veteran U.S. Conress.man Blob Sikes have planned a gala ceie.
bration Saturday honoring the First Con-gressonal District representative for 35years service to his const ituents.

Bob Sikes Appreciation Day is ex-
pocted todraw loyal supporters from as far
as Chipley and Bonifay in a parade by galy
decorated automobiles that meets in Pan-amna City -and Chipley, picking up sup.
porters all along the route, until they reach
Lee Square in Pensacola where the entiregathering. expiected to number 10.000 by.
thait tim e, will mowe down Palafox Street
arnd on to the Fairgrounds, say the
organizers.

wMhe primary purpose is to express to
Bob Sikes the appreciation of the citizens
of North-west Florila for what he has done
for this area as concgressman," said MN.J.
hlenge, publicity chairman for the event.

"A group ofl people from not only Es-
cambia County. but Santa Rosa and
Okaloosa and Bay counties. spontaneously
reacted to the criticism fie was getting,. I
think they saw a need to show an expres.
sion of approciation for what he had done
for this district, They thi n aecon gressman
should represent the views of his district
and he has been a real stalwart fivr defense
and a real stalwart for conservatism in the
U.S. Congress," said Menge.

The parade is scheduled to arrive at
the First Boptist Ch~urch at approx.
imately 11:15 a.m.. according to Jim
Sclieffer, mnotorcade chairman.

The parade begins in Chipley at 7:30
a.m.

Along the way the parade will stop
and pick up supporters in Bunifay,
DeFuniak Springs, Crestview and Milton.

lIhe Highway 96 contingent begins in
Panama City at 9 a.m.. reaches Fort WVal-
ton at 10:30 and proceeds to Pensacola.

Staginai' areas are: Chipley, Agricul.

turn] Center. West U.S. 90: Bonitay.Holmes Shirt Company;, Dehiniak Sprngs,.,
CAsey's IG.A; Crestview, County Courth.
ouse; Milton, Six Flags Shopping Pfaua.

Panama City staging area is th@ Cu61(
Coat Community College; Fort WAllon,City Hall parling lot: VaiparaisohNico..l,.
Bayo Plaz Shopping Center; Pensacola,
First Baptist Ch urch parking
lot.

Shortly after the motorcade's arrlvhl
at the fairgrounds, about noon, free
chicken dinners w~ill be served to all at.
tending, whether they are in the motor.
cade or not, said H. A. Brosnaham Jr..chairman of the event,$ steering
committee.

M busic and entertainment will be
Provided at the Fair Grounds by coun
try and western bands arnd gospel singers.
beginning at approma~tely I I amr. andcontinuing, throughout the day.

But t;.E.e vill be no spee'chei, except
by the congvressnian. promises
Brosraham. Dignitaries ini attend
ance %%Ill be recognized, but will remain
silent.

Automobile dealer Vince W'hibbs will
emcee the event and Pensacola Mayor
Barney Burks %%ill introduce Sikes.

Should the weather not cooperate,
shelters will be available, say sponsors
of the event who call themselves
the Friends of Bob Sikes.

"WVe are preparing to serve 10.000
free chicken dinnt.-rs and wve will have rolls
and cakes and cold drinks, all of which will
be free." hie said. Thiere will be no charge
for the food or entertainment anid rno funds
will be solicited for any reason, says
Brosnaham.

.The mnotorcade will parade down
Palatoxc Street from Lee Squre and then
proceed to the fairgrounds.

Prior to arrival of t he pirade from t he
eastern counties, Sikes is to ride in a par-
ade celebrating the Gro'at Gulfcoast-Fe-
stival, a Friday through Sanday artsonid
crafts festival th.t also includes entertain-
rnent by performing artists.
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Tips Hc
To Sik 1

A mniles-long motorcade
fashioned chicken-eating, go
festival marks the Panhandle
Its U.S representative today
Skes, Appreciation Day at th
Fairgrounds.

The parade to the fairgro
inaiipley at 7230 am. and
City at 9 ami. Along the way
gent of dignitaries and well-i
pick up support at Bonifay
Springs. Crestview and UIltoz

The Panamna City Highw,
begins at 9 am. reaches Fori
10-30 and proceeds to Pensac
City's meeting area is the
Community College; Fort %Va
Hall parking lot; Vatparaisc
Bayou Plaza Shopping Center.

Staging areas for the HI
group are: Ohipley. Agricultu
West U.S. 90; Bonifay, Hol
Company;. DeFuniak Spring
IGA',. Crest~iewv. County Cou.,rt
ton. Six Mlas Shonnin- Cente

* 'the parade is scheduledt
the Pensacola First Baptist 0~
ing lot at approximately 11:1
cording to Jim Sheffer.
chairman. It %vill proceed do
Street and then to the Fairgroi

Shortly after the parade's
the Fairgrounds. about noon. t
dinners %%ill be served to all
wrhether they are in the motcrc
said Ti A. Brosnahani Jr., chair
event's steering comimittee.

Music and entertainmer
provided at the Fair GroundsI
and western bands and gosp
be.;inning at approximately I I

* wontinuiuig throughiout the day.
Emcee for the event is a

dealer Vince %Whibbs.. Mayo
Burks %ill present Sikes
%ell-uishers.

"We are preparing to ser
free chicken dinners and we

* - - rolls and cakes and cold drin
whfich will be free," said Brosnal

?ile

and an old-
~pel-singing
's tribute to
at the Bob
a Pensacola

unds begins
at Panama
the contin- -
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REP BOB SIX~ES SIG;NS GULVINDS PETITION
.hls wife, Inc%, accomn~pld him, durin-e SatUray Ceremonla

PaflhC Cer
Co n,,re ssc;m Bobi

Ut was & day of politickine. band.ShakiflC knee-slappiIng toe-

tapll' bay4(S~i~I.butmos ofall, well-wishingS for the star of the

show. U.S. itep. Riobert L.F. Sikes.--

st~all carvan~ of Sikes Sla"Porters that

Few VA I-ew as aktd iis %%ay throiik

Floridas 0whumnel to its deutihitifl. thO

pftsacola bterslate Fair goumt%
There Was horn-bl0W489. Waving.

Wd"A anAd Cheeing s the mileS4O'5

WgrAdiewheCdeintot~e 
iftlot at

tiM Wi grouns wtere Sikes was wailing

to **ahandsiths 5Con5tiue

they posed for pictufsi with their con.

p e s o -M a.1 0 0 - th a t

bo)JA grin never left his face.Wenb
mo speak;G after nearly an hour ofac

coainA6 from programf emcee vince

Whibbi and fttsacob hayor Barney

jbpaiatel~hcrooked hififlP at

I& Vile Igneg biddr. her to jOft him o

Gerald lwosan
e othmltoioiim
.v..nttoseyouphere.hesaid to

each Of them The satenrt wvas simple*

buiahrat am Pviege ob %, h

* finest people in the land - the people I
workfol.a Sj~sbCefrLl never can thalnk

a, uhas t to ordo as uch Of

tfroashard aIWant o-
S;lWs spok'e of 0h1arrC.that hav~e cc'

cursed in the Fir~t CCICs1Onal Datnct
Sm PAM IMMM I M2

06

a,.-..

4*

Ii

1,4~

4*~

4.
.Wftr I11I *~

44

.9

* 1~

IAC "NP



.4 -

A 4Iht 119"02"l3 NXtfV*-30uM31i Sundaoy. October 26, 1975

U P11 I . I I
ell, D% le rS P, R Sb'S Ytw

in-, Hi 17'e:.r term.
"We've wen ruiny charr!es and we've

n av'iry prob~en'sand we've got them
ws. But they're nothing we can't face."
~s .id.
Ileg to CAl about uncecrtain~ties
;le fiuture when he lwck'd skyward and

ik" riftsaing"If y-A'l ltorok behind you,
raer'wtrand I'va nol. going to

1.sture ercough. a parachutist wai
a -afld rt to the center of

f ':fagUul-VlS. lie Wais suspended by a
.wViate and blue parachute.
%1hen the commotion died down,

kes went on to se-ty that his supporters
.nix-A timirg for tM., great meeting.
"3aUcohns. ... Ml'i~s :re bursting all

OI'd u's. 'Thoaz who soi'ght, to destroy
ur conrssmiin ar#. having their fa.

c I-itS O~l wn one alter another.
Am~ir,.yenugh. all of it started in

ew York City, the woret, misrun city in
if. nation. wh-ch wants to be bailed out

th5rlnillionofyaur taxpaiyer's money.
and th'-y're not gninn to rot it "

'fli.. %taum.vo:n I-rought thunderous
p!m:efromith do-iitrce.

/'Julth, Sikes' references to attacks
de agilinst him by what he calls the
hrat eastern pren-" were brief, he said,
.e rieord shows that the more people
hpot shots at your congressman, the
rc votes you give him in the electioe
.tftlj .
nnt to point out to you that these

p -)a.d 0ncy ara thing of the past.
;eACU tii. that really count are the kind of

Iwu have to ive in and lasting progress
Lould abetter tomorrow."

&-hesconcludcslhis brief addess with
s announcement that a measure has

Northwest Florida's military bases for
bvidiin, as %%ell as S700 million budgeted
for the M96 f'iscal year.

"I can tell you we have a bill In the
H'ouse that is about to pass in the Seniate
that %vill bring $51' million in bright and
shiny rccw Uncle Sim military dollars for
ourmni'tryba.es"

lie said N;orlhwcs;t Florida gets
thrcn.-fourthiof all nsi'itary apropriations
bud.cwd for the sure.

" I ilnr e 1.s;I bou teven:"h e joke d.
He urged the supporters who turned

out to honor him to never give up the light

"rcople like you deserve the very.
best.'fus Americaof ours is a dream and a
realiy ... a dream and a reality. There's
nothing like it in the whole world."

Ealier In the day. Sikes signed one of
20.M0 rlg.'sture-petitions wanted by a
Croup of Panhandle leaders who wa to
Like te plflii)ns to WVashington. D.C. at a
brinng of Azr.*:ak to pe~rsuade Amtrak
officials to renew Gull Winds railraod
paussrger service from Jacksonville to
NewOrleans.

At least 25 elected officials from Es-
camabla. Santa Rosa, Okaloosa. Say and
Walton counties turned out for the fete

S turday.
"Wcll I hOMwreSmo.(eY (Peaden.ate

rivresentative)," said Okaloosa Sheriff
Ri:" VlWnas4hestrolledetothe grounds.,

"Ill. Sheriff." Peaden replied. "You
know, you're the third sheriff I've seen
hf're UoilaY. Are y'all trying to tell roe

(PLkaen has beennmentioned as a pos.
rhle cortencder for sheriff of Escambla
C'.witv. but the representative has made
no utftk anmount of his politica
intentions).

And 9cambla County Comlssieeer
Grady Albritton placed several sign on

the grounds proclaiminghinmself -the full',
time cacmisslonerr

Albritton received a dig, though,
when Country and Western and Gospel

SigrPnTaylordedicated aloig about a
nu nprison toimn -"MamaTried."

Other nw.*ianb Including the Young
AmnerLcan Doeam from Chipley a group of
youngsters In co'onlal costume-s promot*
lag the American Bicentennial through
song performed throughout the
afternoon.

'Di HadiI Shrine clowns cavorted
thro the crowd, twisting long skinny
balloosntmalsapstOdshilren

And although Cot Sanders wssn-
lebsdsickenwasaaditwasfeetogi

It may well have been one of Sl

heAddcorA~mto vrk ard frhem
And that supot was usost netabl,

Nhvewst Flodianstossrth

0Si0e for PtaIdealt of the us"te

Sllu~etatwar~heasjulu

do
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*0 Aiy. mo asehits a mca

aw by h ourad 'W m l6 0 SO hwic a mcorn-
vw;;plitby an outworsaft may

10 ReqUlJeidt tadm

service at least four times was
fied with the chamb~er by Corn.
mon Caue.itpublibeafakir lob-
by, with t"., sitance ot4S
members of the Hou se.

John W. Gardner, the chair-
man of Common Cause. sakd
the action was taken after the
rup had tried unsuccessfullyror almost a, year to evoke

from the House Committeec
Standards of Official Cordf~t,
usually called the etl~ r..
Mittee, some responot- to -he,

Aecpunittee isthe worst,
kind of sham, giving the ave-j
rance of, serving as policewitn~
while c t' ic .m$~9s
protect~i'9s1 ed over mimt rs
of CoagreW," Mr. ftrferv~Id.

At a news conference. Mr.
Gardner said he had repeatedly
sought the attention of the
House Democratic leadership in
looking 4ko Mr. Sikes's busi-
ness afftrs None of the 45
Representatkyes who agreed .to
transmit the omlint.are
membe r te lea ip

6osAot. a decde, Mr.
Sikssbsnssa Iihave

b~en under ~sI~inby
newspapers in lia~ well
as CBS News and Te New
York Timfes.

Th4 dealings involve hts in-
terest in a Florida land develop.
mont7 comPssy'. a bank foundid'
011 n*vy property, stock ia
major defense contractor, andl
stock. in an insurance company
selling policies to servicemen.
His involvement in the latter
venture wvas not brought into
question today.

In the past, Mr. Sikes, a 17-'term conservativehsdne
that any conflict,of as denied
exists between his business In-
terests and his Congressional f
affairs as chairman of the APf
Propriations Committee's Sub-
commnittee on Military Con.;
struction. When the House Me
organized last year, a move
within the Democratic- caucus 1
to oust him as subcommittee
chairman was defeated by a
vote of 148 to 49.

Repeated, but unavailing,1
attempts were made to obtain!
comment from both Mr. SikesI
and staff aides in his officce. J

The complaint submitted byj.
Common Cause charges Vha-t

V"Jn 1974, Representat,.yI
Slikes, then the owner of 1,000,

Mby ~P esena ery lak: of action led -toose itself. leterof taamitlnowlege this is "Mle teo I oso t*ioa ht this pice-1Inthe -h~esteem is at t~t eenuse," t.here,",.C.taguire said,.ddiL "evasi On f such companM.eAndrew Ma- simply cannot be tolerated'i M o NW Jersey, The New Jersey Dom
oftransmit. said he would personsildo

ental Inq ver a COpy of the coSthe ethics committeeto
S. row. Attempts to reachtb

* 1~me~g,.Committee chairman, Reprq.asdwt sentative John J. Flynt. en~to$ crat of Georgi, were unsud.

ces*ul
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809 Foster Avenue: 0
Panama City, Fl. 32401

Thomas B. Curtis, chairman
Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street NW
Washington, D.C. 20463

Dear Sir:

I believe there has been a violation of federal

election laws. Rep. Robert L. F. Sikes and/or certain

of his supporters have failed to make required reports

of contributions and expenditures. There definitely

has been a violation of section 434(e) requiring

disclosure of expenditures. There may have been a

N violation of section 433 which calls for the registration

of political committees, and section 608(b) which

limits contributions by persons and committees.

On October 25, 1975 there was a political rally

held in Pensacola, Florida. At that rally "110,000-plus"

people were served "$2.00 value" chicken dinners as

reported in attached copies of Pensacola News-Journal*

articles. The sum expended is substantially above

the $100 disclosure requirement level. A thorough



search of Federal Election Commission files produced

no report of contributions or expenditures by individuals

identified in the press reports as associated with

the rally (H. A. Brosnahan, Jr., chairman; M. J. Menge,

publicity chairman; James M. Sheffer, motorcade

chairman). The search produced no report from any

committee outlining the expenses of the rally or the

source of funds. The Bob Sikes Political Campaign

Committee'January 31, 1976 report makes no mention

of expenditures associated with the rally.

Disclosure of expenditures of $100 or more are

required by law. Disclosure is required of candidates,

political committees, and also persons acting inde-

pendently. Section 434(e) says:

Every person... .who makes contributions
or expenditures, other than by contribution
to a political committee or candidate, in an
aggregate amount in excess of $100 within a

N calendar year shall file with the Commission ...

N There is some question in my mind as to how

independent the "Friends of Bob Sikes" committee

were of the candidate. In the October 24, 1975

Pensacola Journal M. J. Menge, publicity chairman for

the event is quoted as saying, "tA group of people from

not only Escambia County, but Santa Rosa and Okaloosa

and Bay counties, spontaneously reacted to the

criticism he was getting."' This "~spontaneous"t

combustion of support looks like arson to mae. The



extent to which there was or was not collusion with

the candidate may indicate violations of other sections

of the federal election campaign laws.

Another quote from M. J. Menge (Pensacola News,,

October 23, 1975) would have us believe .,"That

the primary purpose (of the rally) is (was) to expre-ss

to Bob Sikes the appreciation of the citizens of

Northwest Florida for what he has done for this area

as Congressman." This may have been one of the purposes.

It is also evident that this political rally was

generated in-response to charges of conflicts of

interests and abuse of power. The candidate is reported

(Pensacola News-Journal, October 26, 1975) to have

offeredthis opinion at the rally, "The record shows

that the more people take pot shots at your congressman,

the more votes you give him in the election that

N follows."

There may have been violations of several sections

of the federal election campaign laws. I urge the

Federal Election Commision (or its successor) to

investigate.

Correspodence will reach me if directed to the

above address or, through March 15, I may be reached

at:



0~

5170 Fulton St. NW
Washington, D.C. 20016
home telephone (202) 966-6579
office phone (202) 523-0801

Please consider this a formal complaint pursuant
with 2 U.S.C. 437g(a).

Sincerely,

Washington, D. -C. SS

Stvbscribed and sworr to~ befcre me this
12th day of February, 1976

rPublic, D.C.

.jy %,OTT)nIM.sw Expires Nov. 30, 1978

IVm
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Sikes Day Plan ne:

Expect Human Wa
UKEHENDERS&lt

Bob Sikes Appreciathi Day activities, ex.
pted to draw about 10.000 Panhandle Florida
residents to the Pensacola Interstate Fair-

~insSaturday bein with motorcades from

mrwy asPanam City and Bonifay joining
4res hre. officials said today.

"They are going to converge in Pensacola
around the area of Lee Square at approximately
111 5 am..Wenwe hope alage numberof peo.
pie from Escambla County will join the motor-
CadeW said Mej. Menge. publicity chairman for
theevenL

"ibp primary purpose is to expy
Sikes the appreciation of the citizen1
wIs Florida for what he has done forI
Cwipessmafl Menge said.

Shortly after the motorcade's an
fairgrounds about noon, "there wI
cickendinners seved to eeybody
wthier they are in the motorcade 01
H.A. Branaham Jr.. chairman of t
steeriitgcommnttee.

Tre will be music and entert
coemtry and wiestern and gospel - pr
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Sikes Day Planners
Gear. for Big Turnout

Continued Fronm IA
day, starting around I11 to 11:30 anm. and contin-
uing through the afternoon." he said.

"There will be no speaking except by Bob
Sikes, Brsonaham said. "The dignitaries who
will attend %ill be recognized."

Broshahamn said auto dealer Vince Whibbs
%ill emcee the event and Pensacola Mayor Ba-
reny Burkes will present Sikes.

"We have ample facilities to provide shelter
in case the weather should not be good," Bros-
naharnsaid.

"We are preparing to serve 10,000 free
chicken dinners and we will have rolls and cakes
and cold drinks, all oftwhich will be free," he said.
'There %rill be no charge for entertainment or
anything else and no solicitation of funds for
anything."

Motorcade Chairman James M. Sheffer said
'Let's make this the biggest day of appreciation
ever seen in Northwest Florida. We need to send
a messae to Common Cause that they can't des-
troy an uncommon man."

Common Cause, the citizens lobby, had
demanded Sikes' resignation as chairman of the
House Subcommittee on military appropriations
because of alleged conflicts of interests in his
business dealings. but Sikes, denying the allega-
tions, has steadfastly refused to resisn.

Motorcades will originate in Citipley, Bon-
ifay, DeFuriak Springs, Crestview. Milton, Pan-
arm City, Fort Walton Becach, and the Valparai-
so-Niceville area. Sheffer said a prize will be
given for the best-decorated vehicle in the mo-
torcade and he urged decoration of cars with
bunting and signs.

The mass motorcade, after joining forces
with Escambia County residents in the Lee
Square area, is to parade down Palafox Street
and proceed to the fairgrounds.

Earlier in the day, at 10 a&m. Sikes is to ride
in the parade celebrating the Great Gulfcoast
Festival, a Friday through Sunday arts and crafts
festival that also includes entertainment by
performing artist.

fun%

I . *1
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To Honor Sikes
%131ILL GORDONv

Journlo1tf Writer

Supporters of veteran U.S. Congress.
man Bob Sikes have planned a gala cele-
bration Saturdav honoring the F:rst Con'gressional District representative for 35
years service to hisconstituents.

Bob Sikes Appreciation Day is ex-pected to draw loyal si pporters from as far
as (Iipley and Bonifay in a parade by galy
decorated automobales that meets in Pani-ama City and Chipley, picking up sup.
porters all along the route, until they reach
Lee, Square in Pensacola where the entiregatherig, exp~ected to number 10.0,10 by
that time, will move dcown Palafox Street
and on to the Fairgrounds, -say the
organizers.

"MTe primary purpose is to ex press to
Bob Sikes the appreciation of the citizens
of Northwest Florida for what fie has done
for this area as congressman," said M.J.
Menge, publicity chairman for the event.

"A group of people from not only Es-
cambia County, but Santa Rosa and
Okaloosa and Bay counties. spontaneously
reacted to the criticism he was getting. I
think they saw a need to show an expres-
sion of appreciation for what hie had done
for ths district. Ilyt hnk a cong-ressraan
should represent the views of his district
and he has been a real stalwart for defense
and a real staldwart for conservatism in the
U.S. Congress." said Menge.

The parade is scheduled to arrive at
the First Baptist Church at approx-
irnatclv 11:13 anm., according to JIM
&chetfer, motorcade chairman.

Thie parade begins in Chipley at 7:30
a.m.L

Along the way the parade will stop
and pick up supporters in Bonifay,
DeFuniak Springs, Crest view and IMilton.

Ilie Highway 96 contingent begins in
Panama City at 9 am., reaches Fort Wal-
ton at 10:30 and proceeds to Pensacola.

Staging areas are: Chipley, Agricul-

tural Center, West 11,5, 90: Bonifay,Holmes Shirt Company, Detnniak Spring-s,Casey's IGA; Crestview, County Courth-ouse; Milton, Six Flags Shopping Plaza.Panam, City staging area is the G6lfCoat Community College; Fort WAlton,City Ha parking lot; Valparaiso. Niceville.Bayou Plaza Shopping Center; Pensacola,
First Baptist Church parking
lot.

Shortly after the motorcade's arrival
at the fairgrounds, about noon, treechicken dinners '%Wl be served to all at-tending, '%1iether they are in the motor-cade or not, said H. A. Brosnalham Jr.,chairman of the event's steering

commnittee.
Music and entertainment will bepro~ided at the Fair Grounds by countryv and westem bands and gospel singers,

begpinning at approximately I I a-in. andcontinLung through11out the dayv.
But there will be no spee ches, exceptby the congressman, promises

Brosahaxn. Dignitaries in attendance %%ill be recognized, but wvill remain
silent.

Automobile dealer Vince Whibbs willemcee the event and Pensacola Mayor
Barney Burks; will introduce Sikes.

Should the weather not cooperate,
shelters wvill be available, say sponsors
of the eventl who call themselves
th e Friendsi of Bob Si kes.

'We are preparing to serve 10,000
free chicken dinn--rs and we will have rolls
and cakes, and cold drinks,a.ll (itwhich willbe free," hie said. 71ere will be' no charge
for the food ore~cjhhn rdno funds
will be s'dicited for any reason, says
Brosnaham.

The motorcade will parade downPalafox Street fromn Lee Squre and then
proceed to the fairgrouzids.

Prior to arrival of the parade from theea.stern counties, Sikes is to ride in a par.
aide celebrating the Great GulfcoastFe-
stival, a Friday through Saindt-y arts and
crafts festival that al~o includes entertain-
nient by performiung artists.

9 .6
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Tips Hat
T6 Sikes

A miles-long motorcade and an old.
fashioned chicken-eating, gospel-singing
festival marks the Panhandle's tribute to
its U.S. representative today at the Bob
Sikes Appreciation Day at the Pensacola
Fairgrounds.

The parade to the fairgrounds begins
in Chipley at 7:30 a.m. and at Panama
City at 9 am. Along the way the contin-
gen~t of dignitaries and well-wishers will
pick up support at Bonifay, DeFuniak
Springs, Crestview and Milton.

The Panama City Highway 98 group
begins at 9 am. reaches Fort Walton at
10:30 and proceeds to Pensacola. Panama
City's meeting area is the Gulf Coast
Community College;, Fort Walton. City
Hall parking lot; Vlalparaiso-Niceville,
Bayou Plaza Shopping Center.

Staging areas for the Highway 90
group are: Chipley, Agricultural Center,
West U.S. 90; Donifay, Holmes Shirt
Company;, DeFuniak Springs, Casey's
IGA. Crestview, County Courthouse; Mil-
ton, Six Fbgs Shopping Center.

* The parade is scheduled to arrive at
the Pensacola First Baptist Church park-

e ~ - ing lot at approxinitelv 11:15 a.m.. ac-
cording to Jim Sheffer, motorcade

rr~ -chairman. It will proceed down Palafox
Street and then to the Fairgrounds.

Shortly after the parade's arrival at
the Fairgrounds. about noon. free chicken
dinners will be served to all attending,
whether they are in the motorcade or not,
said Ht A. Brosnaham ,Jr., chairman of the
event's steering committee.

Music and entertainment will be
pro~ided at the Fair Grounds by country
and western bands and gospel singers
beginning at approximately I I am. and
continuing throug~hout the day.

Enree for the event is automobile-
dealer Vince Whibbs. Mayor Barney
Buirks will present Sikes to the
well-wishers.

"We are preparing to serve 10,000
free chicken dinners and we will have
rolls and cakes and cold drinks, all of
which will be free," said Brosnaham.



R~pB03 IIESSIGNS GULFWIN DS PETITION
jds"e,1nMaccompanied him during Saturday CertMODI

^-41 Panhandle Cheers
Congressma o

it was a day of politicking. hand-shaking, knee-slappinlg. toe-

tapping, baby-kissing, but most of all, well-wishing for the star of the

e show, U.S. Rep. Robert L.F. Sikes.
lltaIltiegarat7a.TmiChipleywitha

small caravan of Sikes supporters that
grew and grew as it snaked its way through
florida's Panh-andle to its destination, the

C71 Pensacola Interstate Fair grounds.
There was horn-blowing. waving.

wistling and cheering as the miles-long
motorcade wheeled into the parking lot at

the fair grounds where Sikes was waing
toshkehads with hWs constituents.

N And the lO.OOO plus crowvd loved it as
they posed for pictures with their con-

Sikes appeared to love it. too - that

Wcis grin never left his face. When he
roe to speak after nearly an hour of ac-
colades from program emcee Vince

Whibbs and Pensacola Mayor Barney

lie poited. then crooked his fingaer at
his wife. Inez. biddin~g her to join him on
the stge of the fa.,rgraund's amphithc ite r.
Later, he called oni Florida Comptroller

oftheorganizers of the Sikes Appreciation

Day prograim.tolonhim.
*1 want to see you up here." he said tot

eah thm b statement was simpte.
eiaho he.Ttati e metws ipe

"I rvv a p~iegd o be4~ %ihh

finest people in the land - the people I
work for," Sikes to'ran. 'I never can th-Ink
you at much as I want to or do as much or

smrkfor you ashard as Iwantt W.
Sikes, spoke of rl-utnnei that have oc-

curred in the First Congessiufal Ditrict

C See PA INDLE, IZA
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Panhandle Cheers Congressman Bob Sikes
durin.g his 17'-year term.

. 'Wo.'ve seen m;any chanimes and we've
seen n'.;z.y problems and we've got them
now. But they're nothing we can't face,"
Sikes said.

fie begain to talk about uncertainties
in the fluture whsen he looked skywvard and
brokeoff saling."If you'll look Ixehind you,
t,,za atropter and I'm not going to
t i,-'? e with him!"

Idsure enough, a parawhutist was
ntak:i, a graceful d(eret to the ccnter of
'the fatrgruunds. lie was suspended by a

ad&%white and blue parachute.
When the commotion died down,

Sikes went on to say that his supporters
used"rgi tirnir~g for this great meeting.

"Balais.... Filloons are bursting all
around us. Those who sought to destroy
your conrgressman are having their fa.
briciior.s shot d&awn one after another.

'Aszngly en'uh, all of it started in
New York City, the worst. misrun city in
this nation, which wants to be bailed out
wih !0 milionofyour taxpayer's money,
.and thly're not going to rot it!

'l'is' statceneot brought thunderous
appt.,ui!s' from the aaidwnce.

Althtough Silces' refere nces to attacks
mde against him by what he calls the
'liberal eastern pre-s" were brief, he said,
"The record shows that the more people
take pot shots at your congressman, the
wiore votes you give him in the election
hati vs.

in tto point out to you that these
thl past, thboyare a thing of the past.
the e~sthat reaycount are the kind of
ind we have to live in and lsting prcogress
to build a better tomorrow."

Skesconcluded his brlefaddress with
the announcement that a measure has

pedinthelfaim~smig5oMliaoate

Northwest Florida's military bases for
building, as well as $700 million budgeted
for the 1976 fiscal year.

"I can tell you we have a bill in the
House that is ahout to pass in the Senate
that will bring S51 rnmiilion in bright and
shiny new Uncle Sam military dollars for
our rnitary ba.ses."

lie said Northwest Florida gets
thes-fouflbsof al! inilitaryappropriatior4s
budaeted for the wnate.

"I fficure its ,bout even," he joked.
lie urged the supporters who turned

out tohionor him to never give up the fight
againitthe"detractorsanddistractore.

"People like you deserve the very
best.'Ths America of ours is a dreamn anda
reality. .. a dream and a reality. There's
nothing like it in the whole world."

Earlier in the day. Sikes signed one of
20,000 signature-petitions wanted by a
group of Panhandle leaders who want to
take the petations to Washington. D.C. at a
hearing of Amtrak to persuade Amntrak
officials to renew Gulf Winds railraod
passerger service from Jacksonville to
New Orleans.

At least 25 elected officials from Es-
cambia. Santa llosa. Olcaloosa. Say and
Walt=n counties turned out for the fete

Si~turda.
'Weli~hi there, Smkey(Peadel% state

representative)." said Okaloosa Sher iff
ltayWisnasthestroled onothe grounds.

"i., Sheriff." Peaden replied. "You
know, you're the third snheriffI I've seen
here today. Are y'all trying to tell me
soamthing?"

(1-kadlen has been mentioned as a po.
sihle ceraeoder for sheriff of Escambia
County, but the representative has made
no official announcement of his political
intentions).

And llcamb" CammtyConunluioner
Grady Albritton plce several sips on

the grounds proclaimninghiself "Ibe full-
timnecornmnioner.*

Albritton received a dig, though.
when Country and Wesern and Gospel
SingerRonTaylordedicated a song abouta
man in prison to him - "Sama Tried."

Other musicians includingthe Young
American Dream from Chipley a group of
youngsters in colonial costumes promot-
ing the American Bicentennial through
song. Performed throughout th
afterM.U

The iladj Shrine clowns cavorted
ohoOteaw4. tvdst Iong danmy

balloiosmaiapesrchdm

And abhoagi Cot Sanders wsn
flier sdaickensmsaditwasfreaeoal
vhowa nem.

It MAY Well have been one of Sol
Wees'greatest mosWIkas Kaccepted th
geliueburtadasaedhissup
heicnddcontinue towork hadfor them

And that support was mos notal*vresedu&tenasroupofe Messea
band for the event. said th=eywant
?ong*1oa wntosbre their

,*Same for Preldeath
* We4WilhL
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